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IR.- uex'za: I ask that all witnesses be exeluded“ from
"~ the room, if your Honor please, |

THE COURT: Yes, the witnesses on both sides,

T HE PEOPLE'S TESTIMOUY,.

LULU WINTERS, of 106 West 143rd Street, a witness called ; \
on behalf of *he People being duly sworn, testified as
followe:
DIRECT EXAMI&ATION BY MR, CARDONE:
Q Do you know the defendant? A | do,

Q Now, you will have to gpeak up pleeee, because theae .
gentlemen want to hear everything you have to say, Is the de;
fendant related to you? A Oh yes, he is my huebaed. '

Q When did you marry the defendent? A 1915,'1n December,

‘ /

Q In December, 19152 A Yes, s8if,

Q Where? A In Richmond, Virginia.

Q Have you any children c¢f the marriage? A I have not,
'Q After you sarried the defendaat, where d¢id you go to live
with the defendant? A Why, we went to Hopewell, Virginia, ‘ | {
Q And how long did you live in Virginia.before you came
to New York? A Why, I don't know exactly, but as near as I ‘
can get to it, it is elcouple of years. I am npt poeitive.; = | _
|

‘b When did you come to New York? A In 1919, in December.

Q Did you come with your hueband? A I did n ot
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Q You came to New York uldne; is that correct? A r.i,&aiQ 1"u
- Q lﬁoré was your husband when you came to New York? A He
was in Norfolk Virginia.
Q And how lon:z did you and your husband live together in
Virginia, before you and your husband separated? A Before we
separated? '

Q Yes. 7ell, when did you and your husband separate?

A Vell, we have been separated iwo or three times,

Q Well, when did you separate after you and your husband
began to live together as husband and wife, when fdf the first
time? You were married in 1915. Now, how long did you live wi th
him before you and your husband separated? A T lived with him
-from the time I married up until the war closed, I don't know
what month it closad, At the time the war closed, he left me
in Hopewell Virginia, and went to Hpmestead, Pennsylvania.

Q You lived with him about three years before you and he
separated? A Yes I suppoée 30, a8 near as I can remember,

Q And when you and he separated, he went to Homestead,
Pennsllvania.y./:x.zd I went to Raleigh, North Carolina,

Q And then you came to New‘York? A Yes,‘sir.

Q Andvdid you then again live with your husband, after
yéu wére separated? A’ I did,

Q Where? & 1In Norfolk, Virginig, last summer,

Q You and your husband tbok up 1iving together again?

A Yes, sir,



Q How long 4id you live with your husband before you again

separated? A Well, I can't eay positively how long it was.

'Q Well, I don'; want you to say how many days or weeks, but
how many months? A Well, I guess it was about a monfh.

Q %nd thén you separated a second time, is that correct,

in Norfolk, Virginia? A Yes, I did, .

-

Q And how long did you live apart before your husband again

lived with you?
BY THE COURT:

Q When you eepatatéd in Norfolk, did you come on to New
York? A Yes, éir, two weeks before Christmas, and he came two
or three days befors Chrietmas, as near as I can guess,

Q About. the same time that you did? ‘A No, not at the same
time T 4id.,.

Q A little later? A Yes, sir,

Q And then did you live with him here? A 1T did.

BY MR, CARDCHNE:

Q VWhere? A Tn December of last year.

Q But 7here? A I lived with my sister on 143rd Streot;
in an apartment, 106 West. |

Q And how long did you live at your sister's with your
husband, from December on? A It was a little after Christmas
when we stafted again.

Q Well, was it before New Year's or after New Year's when

you and your husband separated for the third time? A It was

ARET |
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‘after New Ybir'l.
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Q Where did you continue to 1ive? Did you still continue o
to live at this addrees? A I did. | |
Q Where did your husband go to? A T don't know the number,
Q Well, did he live mer you? A No, it was near Fighth
Avenue. 4
Q@ Vhat humber? A I have forgotten the‘numbef. : | Rt
Q Near what étreet? A If I am not misfaken, it was No,
303, on 148th Street, |
Q West 148th Street? A Yes, that's as néﬁr as I can come
to it. |
| Q Now, from-the time - your husband left’ you, in January of
thie year, up to the Sth of M;y, 1930, 4did.you at any time agiin"A
live with your husband, between those two dates, between the time
he left you in January, up to the Sth day of May, 19307 A (No
answer., ) |
Q <20 that fhe last time you and your husband lived together
wase in-Jannary of this year, or did you again live together after

that? A Well, since he moved near Fighth AVenue, we haven't

lived tdgether, but while I was living with my sister he came
thare, but we never lived together af+‘er he moved to near E;ghth
Avenue,

Q Now, you #y that he came to see you at your sister's

house once? - 4 Yes,sir, h= came there several times,

Q And where doss your aister,live? A 106 West 143rd Street.

Q And what is your sister's name? p Emma Mitchell.



AW A SO PP oy A St 980, e .

Q Were you living with your sister, after you and your7
- husband separated? A Yes,sir; and I wasn't living no other

place.

Q Finally, when did he visit you between May and January of
this year, at your sister's house? A  Why, he was there all the
ﬁime, making a disturbance.

Q Now, you and your husband have hdd some troub;e;'haven't
you? A Yeas,sir,

- Q Why haye you had'trouble? A Because he aswears he will
kill me, because I wouldn't live with him because he miséreated
me, He treatsd me brutaliy, and didn't half support me; and he
said, if I didn't live with him I couldn't live in the Bity of
New York, that he wzs going to kill me, to shoot me or poison me.

Q Now, did you sees your husband on the 2th of May of this
yeaf? A I didn't see him in thestreet,

Q Well, where did you see him? A Oh, in my bedrocm, whea
I went int6 the 'room to lo;e: ‘he window shades, Hé was in tﬁe
hallway, one flight up on the s*teps, between the second and third
apartment. He was looking into the window, and he fired into thia‘
window, before I could leave it.: \

Q .What time was it? A Around about 1:30.

Q In the morning? A Yes,sir,

Q It was after midnight’ A Yes,sir,

Q Your apartment:is located in the bremisea 108 Weet 143rd

Street? A VYes,sir,
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@ Mich s the ApAFiEAt that you snd your sietey. NERUEE
nitohell, occupy; Vie'that corrodt?. A Yes,sir,
Q What floor is your apartment lqo;ted on? A I don't under-
atand you.
| @ What floor do you live on? A m=he third floor.

Q And where wae your husband standiné when you say you saw
him shoot? A He was standing one flight upstairs up, above our
door 4, between the third and fourth floor.

| Q Wae-he in the sabe build;ng or in another bgilding?
’A He was in the same buiiding. |

Q And is this windoﬁ, near which ydur husband was etanding;
separated.from your window by an areaway or courtyard? A By
courtyard? ; <

Q Yes, Are thes=e two windows separated from cach other?

A Yes, they are,

Q And how far away is the window in ffont of which your
hueband was standing from the window near which you were when you
were about to lower jour shade? A TVell, I can't’tell how many
feet it was,

Q Well, can't you teil from this recm here; can't you give
us any idea? A Iy window is like dén the corner (1lluatrating),
ani he was looking through the hall window when he fired into
my beadroom window;

, Q From where you were could you see the person who was

at or near the window from which the shots came? A Yes, sir.




BY TEE COURT:

é Did your bedroom window looking to a well betweoq the
twp housea? Was it a front, or side, or back window? A A‘baoi
windoﬁ.

Q And gre there two hous=s on the lot, a rear house and a
front house”?” A Well, you see, the hallway runs up like this
(illuetrating), and the hall runs out, kiné of, and the window
faces my bedroom window, and he is looking through into this win-
Aow where my bedroom was, ‘
EY MR, CARDOVNE:

Q And ar; }ou sure that the man who fired the shots at you
wae your hueband? A Why certainly. I know him wherever I see him

Q And 4did you see his face? A Yes ,sir.

Q And did you see the revolver ip his hand? A VYes,sir,

Q How many shots were fired? A Two,

Q- Was your window up or down? A I% was down,

Q And was your shade up or down? A The shade was up. I

‘j_ . was fixing to .pull it down,
‘ Q Were you close to the window? A T was right at the win- W
dow, - | . '
Q 'Any_éurtains on/thé window? A .Yes, a thih little curtain
'n the window, but it don't go all the way up. It is only a half
éurtain, and the shade was up above the window curtain. |
Q Could you;eee over the durtain? A Oh yes, I am taller

than the half curtains, and I could lookhright through the window
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glass over them, A

Q Did you have any light on your room on that night?
A Yes,sir, eslectric light,

Q Amd was the 1ight 1it? A Yes,sir,

o Was there any light in the hallway near the window from
which the shots came? A It was lit in the hall, but not ﬁp in
that part vh ere the shots came from.

Q Where was the 1light located in the hallway? A DOwnvby
the door. |

Q And how far below the landing between the third and faurth

floors was this light? A WNo, he was sténding up only or® flight
above the door, but the light is down by the door,'but it was |
dark where he was standing cn the landing.

Q Do you say it wae dark in the hallway where he was stand-
ing, where he fired the shots”? A There was a light in our kitches
very near the hallwoom window, and it was shining; and T could
see his face from the light.

BY THE MURT:
QW Did he lean out of the window? A Yes, sir,

Q Show us with your hand just ho; he did it? A I didn't
take that much time to look to see exactly how he was leaning,
becauses I saw the re;olver in his hand,

BY MR, CARDONE: |
Q Well, did you see his face? A Yes, zir,

BY THE COURT:

Q How many shots did he fire®” A Two. One came on one side
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| iﬂie,v{
-jéf pho window, on the 1l=ft side of the window and‘én my left .z&i?’%
and it landed into an oak chiffonier at the window, and the Bext |
~one came in on the right side of me, and it went under the bed,
and went through two dress suit cases, and wonf into the wood-
workat the back of the house, and is sticking there now, and the
detective got the firs* bullet from the chiffonier drawer,
' BY MR, CARDONE:
Q VWell, after the shote were fired, what did you Ao? A Well,

I didn't do anything; I was so frighfened about if,aI hardly
knowed what I was doing; and the first’thihg I knew the house
was full of cops and detectives.

Q Now you say that thie man threatened to kill you? A Yes.

Q FNow, how long before.was the last time he threagened.to
kill you before this happened? . A I don't know whether it is

a week,—— yes it was as much as a week, I think, but he had beean

threatening to kill me for a long time,
Q WVell, was it a week before? A Yes, about that,
Q Where were you living at that time? A I was living with

my sister,

‘Q Now, the lae% time that he ;hreatened you, a8 you eay, &
week before the shooting, where were you then? A I was living'
with my sister. | |

Q Well, did he come up tpthe room? A Why he didn't cone
up to the room, bﬁt he waited arcund the street ; trying to catch

me,
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Q VWhere were you when he threatened you the last»tine?_'or"f
you on the street or in your room or where? A I were on the
.8treet. '

BY MR, CARDONE:
Q You say the police arrived right away? A Yes, sir, a few
minutee after it was ddne.

Q And did your husband viéit you that déi; or the day before?
A No, he didn't.

‘Q When was your husband at your house before the shooting;
when did he-.call on you at your house, at that addrées, before the
shooting occurred; when before that? A (No answds).

Q  (Question repeated) You say he came to your Bouse on a

number of occasions; is that right” A I s=aid he had came to my

houeé, making a disturbanci. After he left there, he called there
a lot of time=s,
Q None of these bullets struck you? A VNo,sir, they didn't
‘strike me. R |
Q Can you give us some idea, Mrs. Winpers, of the distance
between theae twe windows? Can you tell us hov many feet away
your window was from the window from which the shoofing céme?
Was it as far as from where you are sitting *o that rail there
(indicating)? A Yes, it was just about that far,
Q Fronm wheie you are esitting to tha% chair (iniioating)?
A I euppose 8o. I am not positivg, becauee I don't knoi hof m&n&

feet it was,
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Q‘ Was it.moré or less? A No,sir, it was not less,
Q Well, was it much more” A I can't say ponitiveiy; in
toet. ' | |
Q Vell, how.many;feet'could you say? 15 feet? A Vhy, I
can,t say, because I don't know.
THE COURT: Well, has not the officér seen these premi-

ses?

MR, CARDONE: Yes
THE COURT: Well, he can give us some idea of it.
MR. CARDONE: Well, can we agrée on .the distance the
witness has indicated? ;
MR, LASKER: Yes. About 15 feet?
MR, CAREdNE: Yes, about 15 feet.
CROS® EXAMINATION BY MR, LASKER:
Q Now, Mre, Winterﬁ, you are rather certain in all the
statements you have made so far? A Yes, sir,
Q I understand you were married in 1915, at Richmond, Vir-

.

gi.nia,’P A I was. -

| Q When were you in Hopewell, Virginia; do you know5 A'R;ght
after we got married, we went tc Hopewell, Virginia, |
Q And, while you were there, did you know a man by the .
name»of Thaddeus 7alker? A I did.
Q You di“? A Yes,
Q And your husband was 2lso at thatlplace? A He were.
Q And he worked fcf the Dubont "owder Works; didn't he?

A Yes,eir,
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Q,'And didin't he lupporf you? A No,sir, ke only ﬁtlf'.up— i"'
ported me, and treated me brutally, %
Q Even in the beginning of your married life, you hadtrﬁﬁbl@
A Yes, sir; becaﬁee pa{t of the time I didn't have food to eat,.
Q Now, how well did you know this Mr. Thadeus Walker? | 'j
A Well, T didn't know him so well, ‘ | 4
Q You didn't know him so well? A No,sir. J |
Q. Well, you knew him well enough to live with him; didn't
you? A No, sir, never., I havel't lived with him at all,
Q Oh, you didn't live with him? A VWNo, I Aidn't. S
Q But you knew him well enough that, through he knowing
you, and your husband finding fault with the attentions that he
paid you, that he received a aehtonbe of five years through you;
didn't he? A I don't know what the fight was about. Iiwasn't
there. \ | : .
_ Q‘ But you kgow he got five years in‘State Prison; don't
yﬁu? A Yes; éir. 5

Q And that was the beginning of the trouble; was it not?

A No,eir, I didn't get married then. 1 was married in 1915.
| Q And when.did this happen? A It was sone tim& after; a
year or two after, V
Q You hadnf‘ been married six months before you started‘to’
£lirt with walker, and to walk about town with hiz? A I waen't
flirting with the fellow., I only knew hium because my husband

introduced me to him., - They were working together,
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'Q You know why he got sent to State Prison- A Well, I
don't know what it was about, but my husband and him.atarted
fighting, I was told,

Q And you know ypu were the cause of the fighting? 4 I

certainly waen't, no,

Q He wrote you letters right alecng; gdidn't e? A I don't
undersatand you. |

Q (Questior repeated) A No, he didn't write me no‘lettere,
mo&e than he wrote him.. When he wrote a ietter, he said, "Mr.
and Mre. Wintere.®? He addresesed both éur namee together.

Q Vhy . did he do that? A Juet knowing each other I suppose.
We all knowed each other. I suppose that's why he wrote tha£ Way e

Q Now yéu were in Raleigh, North Carolin& too, weren't you?
A Yes, we lived there; a little whi’e we lived there together,

Q Now,when was that? A Well, when he lived the Dupont
Powder plant, he went to Columbus, Ohio, and sends me to Raleigh,

North Carolina.

Q And this Talker follewed you down there; didn't he?

A No,sir,

Q. He waen't there at 2117 A No, I didntt see him,

Q Y;u didnrt see himhere? A Nosir,

Q And didn't you go afay with him somewhere? o No,sir.

Q Didn;t you leave the\city, and go away with him, and leave
your Busband” A I did not, |

Q Sure of that> A T did not. My husband has been treat-
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-1n'¢' me brutally and mean ever since I have been married to h:.n; v

Q Now;vjust answer what I ask ‘you, and you have zét all
you can dd to answer that. Now, you'went to Petersburg, Virginil%i
didn't you? A Him and I lived there together.

Q And you met Walker there, too? A vNo,sir._

Q And you went with Walker to New York City; diﬁn‘t you?

A I 4id not, I came to New York by myself, My sister w#s very
‘sick when she sent for me to come to New York. |

Q You didn't know anybody in New York did you? A Nojeir;
only my eister and my mother,

Q Vhy did you come to New Yeork City? A Because my sister
w;re sick, and she wroté to me to come to live with her awhile.
Q And your husband didn't come alcong with you? A No,sir,
Q And you didn't ask him to come aiong withryoﬁ; did you?

A No, sir,

: could
Q And you didn't ask him whether you/come here or not?
A Yee, I did ask him, and he promised me to ccme, he promised me

I could come, but he never did give me money to come, I beg your

pardon, I did ask him,

Q WNow, that was from Raleigh, North Carolina that yéu left;
wasnt it? A Yes. -
Q And you came to New York City; didn't you? A I didn't
come from Raleigh, North Carolina to New York City. '
Q You went: from Ralafgh to Petersburg,_to come to New'York

City; didn't you? A Yes, sir, to get =2 Job, to work my way on
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f%ﬁ’ s ‘to New York, because I didn't have the money to come all the‘wijf“
tc New York. ‘ | |
Q Didn't he give you ilé to come to‘New York? A No,lir;v
he sent me $18 to go %o Columbus, Ohio. FHis mother or his sister
senf me the money teo gb there, aﬁd I epent that mon;y in eating,
becuase I didn't have money to'pay my rent or eaf.either. |
Q New, instead of going to Raleigh —=- goiné to New York ==
didnit yu go to Richmond, Virginia, and, while in-Richmond, didn't
you. ' go fo Clay S*reet, and send for that man.ialke; to come éna
live with you? A NWNo, sir, I didn't, but I atoppé@ in Richmond
Virginia, \
| Q Then your husband was working;ldidn't he giv{ you nearly
every cent he earned? .A No he didn't.: He gave it ¥o other people.
What do you meaﬁ by other people? A Other /women.
Oh: other women? A Yes, sir.
Oh, he had cother women besides you? A Yes. _
And you had cther men; didan't you? A . ¥o, sir, I didn't,

It wasn't a case of fifty-fifty; was it?

O O O O O

(Objected‘to. Suatained., )
Q.JNOW,‘as matter of fact, didn't your husband send you §8,
regulérly, and ask you *o return to him? A No,sir, he didn't,
Q Did you return any money that he sent to yQu? ‘A I did re- -
turn some, once, but he didn'* send me an} regular,
Q Vell, why'did you g2y in one breath you didn't receive any

money from him, and yeturned it, and then, in the next breath you



eaid you did receive it, and did return it?

THE WITNESS: Yee, I sent it back once, §8, because I
didn't want my hueband, and I didn't want his money,because
he treated me brutally.‘ |
Q Nw, let's come down to New Yofk City. When you came to
New York Cit} you lived with your husband at 106 West 143rd Street?
e 31d; went back with.him, trying to get along with him. |

Q And-who was thié man in %he housé‘named Thomas Steiart?'
A. He is my sister's common-law husband.

Q He ie your siater'ewcommon law husband? A Yes,sir,

 .Q Is he ir court? A VNo, he isn't.

Q And this Thoras:Stewart had a brother; didn't he? A He
did; . |

Q And what ie his brother's name? VA Clarence -Stewart.

Q Then you were 3 common—law wife,of Ciarence Stewart;
wersn't you? A  No, indeed not.

Q Now listen. 1Isn't that the cause of the whole trouble
between your husband and yourself? A No,sir, it ien't. I'Qe

been living in a purgatdry with that man since I mar:iéd him,

He began with a lie. He didn't have money to pay even the preacher

the day T got married, and I had to give him the money to pay the

preacher. And I tried to treat him right, and, if he would tell

. the truth, he would esay that I told the truth. I'm not lying on

that man. And he has told the neighbors that, that I tried to

THE COURT: No, she esaid that she rofurned it once oniy-,“ﬁ

ill!ll!i i
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; i - to treat hiﬁ right,
Q And you have told him, time and time again, to‘get out
of the house, becauéevyou-didn't want to live with him; is that
right? A Yes, sir, because Ye started lying from the étart,
and he treated .me so brutally, and hé fought with me,
Q Didn't you say to him, "Man, get ouf, and .take your trunk
with you. I don't want n6 sore to dd With you," didn't you?
Yes cf no? A At the time that we had fusses, and we couldn't
egree, I told him he had better get out, because I will living
with my sister, and I didn't know anybody but her in New York,;nd'
if we céuldn't agree, it was best to part, and for him to get.cut;_
Q And how long was this beforethis trouble? A Before the
trouble, what *rouble? ' |
Q .Before the time that you claim that he fired a shot, twd
shots at you? A How long had it been?
Q Yes.
BY THF COURT:

Q How lpng was i+ befére the ©th of May that you tola him

you had better separa*e? A I dontt know exactly how long it
was, I'ion't know exactly how long it were, But I takén him

up to 166th Street, in court, to get the judge'tc make him leave
me alone,

BY MR, LASK?R:

Q Wae it a week or a month or three months before the time

L that you had this final trouble,'or,don‘t you remember about whgt
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: timg it was? A Before the shooting was done?

Q Yes. Donft you remember how long it was before that thaf
you told him to get out of your hcuse, and that you didn't want
any more %o do with him? A Well, about a month,

BY THE COURT:

éb Yéu eay you saw him in the thietrates‘ Court. When wase
that® A In April,

9 And wﬁat court was that? A That wae up in 166th Street
and St. Nicholas Avenue.

Q And what did you have him thére fore? A Because ev-ry
time I would go cut on the streét,'he would be pulling at“ge,
and tryiné to drag me where he lived at,.and trying'td fight me
in the street, and raising a great de~l of exciterment, and the
judge told me him to leave me alone, but he never did, from that
time up to the t;me he done the shooting.

BY MR. LASKER: 7

Q He was your 1awfui husband? A vyes. put, if he was my
Jawful husband, I didn't want him to pull me and dragging me
on the street, and making a great big excitem?nt on the street,

Q Well, you were perfectiy‘right_there, Now, ien't it a
fact, vrs, "inters, that you lived with your husband until the
10th of April last? A Until the 10th of April?

» Q Yee, A No, I don't think T did. |

' Q Ars ycursure? A T know I wasnmit living with him at that

time,because he was away frow me, and that wae during the time he




wae anncying me, and I taken him to the other court.

Q PNow, please don't go over the same thing. What makes you

80 positive? We'll come right down to the facte now, why are
you 80 positive that you saw your hueb;nd, or you claim that it
was your huegand, who fired those two shots from that revolver?
A Because I eaaw him and I don't know any other man for to do
that.

Q Oh, oh? A And I saw him with my own eyes,

Q You saw him, and you didnft know of any other man th&t
w uld do thatf A I know him and I saw him with my eyes, and it
waen't no strange man would de that, |

Q Now, is it not a fact that the ?tewarte’have revolvers
in their apartment? A  Nec,sir, they haven't,

Q And isn't one of the Stewarts laid up with a gunshot
wound now? A Yee, but that was an accident on a Pullman.dar
where he works. He was makingua bed upAon'the car.

.Q. Ahd wasn't the ether‘Stewart arreatéd for having a re=
volver in his poeseseion? A No,sir.

but

Q Now, how do you know, as matter of fact/that the shots
may have been fired in your own apartments? A Which shote?
The one that the ?tewaft fellow w;a shot with?

Q Yes. A How could it be, when'he was over on the job
on %he Pullman car, making a bed up, when the pistcl went bff?

Q PNow, you misunderstand me. I mean the shote that you

cleim your husband fifed? A No,sir, I know it was my husband

SMNRE] | |
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Q :You'have gas liéht in fonr uplrtmnnt; havenrtt you?'.
€ A Vo, electric light, I said. "'
Q ﬁow, whaé you say ie absolutely correct as to the poei-

tion ihere your husband was; mthat he stood on the stairway |
between the third and fourth landing®? A Yas,sir. | '?

Q And fired? A Yes, sir,

Q And fired th:éugh a portion of the window into your
window? A‘ Yes, i H

Q And then the shots -- one went on the‘right side of you
into a chiffonier? A Ypé,air.

Q Is that riéht’ A TYes, 6 sir,

Q And the cther on the left of you, and went under the bed?
A The cne on the left went into the chiffonier; the one on'the
right rent under the bed. |

Q Now, was that a high bed or a low bed? Was that a braes
bed? A It was an iron bed.

Q And the shot went under the bed, and struck two suitcases;

is that right? A Pardon me, please, but the shot, when it came

into the window, i+ whirled, and went uhder the bed. If it had
come straight, it would have gone into my sister's ro~m,; and would
have killed her or'somebody else, There is two holes in the win-
dow,

Q Did it go fhrough the wall into your sister's room?
A No,sir, it didn't.

Q' Now, Mrs. Winters do you know = lady by the name of Hattie
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Hampton who lives at columbua Ohio, and is 'the cuter or tho
defendant? A I know a lady by the name of Hattie Wlhtera but
I don't knof no Hattie Hampton. .
Q But you know thzat ghe is your gister in law? A Yes,
Q And you know that she came to ﬁew'York in the interect
of her brother; don't you? A So she says.
Q And didn't you talk %o her? A I'didn't have no regl_talk
with her. She spoke to me and I spoke to her.
Q And she spoke to you about this case; didn't she? A Yes,
Q And you told her just exactly how this case happened;
didn't you? ‘A Yes, sir, ; |
Q Now, 4id you %tell her the same way as you told it to.the
District Attorney and the Court and to me, this morning? » I'did.
Q The same thing?» A T did,
Q Now, do you know a man, a gentleman'by the name of ¥r,
. Jones? A Mr, Jones?
Q Yeé. A "hat it is his first name?
Q George Jones, a short, stout gentlenman, A I don'f know

whether I do or not. I know a fellew that I heard them calling

Jones, They call him'"Rocks" and Jénes both.

Q And did you have a talk with him? A I did;

Q@ And do you remember sbeaking tc him ;bout that carse,
about this case here? A T do remember.

nA And did you tell him the same story as you tcld in court,

. this morning? A I did,
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Q Nov, as matter of fact, as far as Mr, Jones is condorncd;,fgt
didn'¢t yoﬁ gay to wr, Jones tﬁat thelehot was fired by someone
who was standing at & window, one flight directly above your
window, and the shot was fired downward, and you didn't know'
who fired the shot? A I didn't say that,

Q And you suspected it was your pusband? A I didn't say
that. |

Q Now didn't you make that same statement to‘Mrs; Hampton,
your éieter in law? A T told her just what I toldvin court, this
merning,

MR. LASKER: That is all.

IREN FEOWELL S, of 106 West 143rd Street, a witness called
on behalf of.the Pecrle, being duly sworn, testified as
foilows: |

VDIDFCT EXAﬁTNx*InN éY MR, CARDONE:

Q@ Are you a'married woman? A I have been married, but I
am a widow now, My husband is dead,
| Q How long had you been living at 108 West 14374 Btreet ih
this city? A Going on three years,
Q Do you know Mre. Lulu Winters, the last witnees? A I just

knew her by seeing her, becaﬁsg she lives gndernéath nﬁ, and I

see her every day, and I speak %o her,. |
Q  You live one flightvabove her;rdo you say? A Yes,sir.

Q And what floor is that? A The fourth floor, I call it,
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and she liyes on the third,
Q Do you know the defendant? A I know him bﬁ aighf; I
~ know him when I see him, |
Q Do wou remember. the day of the shooting, phe morning of
the shooting? A I certainly do. |
Q Did you he*r.the shot8 , 1 cersainly did.
Q Where were ycﬁ when you heard the shots? A In the street,
cloese by the houcze,
Q How many chote did you r.;-gr? A Two.

Q@ Well, before the shots were fired, did you see the defen—

dant? A Yee, gir, T saw him standing in the dark hallway, right
unﬁerneath me, ;

As I opened my door to go out, he was down cn the next land-'
ing, and he eaid,"Come on down. No one to hurt you. I'm only
waitirnig here. for that man ‘and my wife."

Andi then I goes down, and goes to the avenue, and before I
do- that, I he=rs two shots fired, and, when I got bﬁck to my
agd they said,

house, everybody's eyee was out ¢f the windows

)

"Somebody has been shot." 3
And then this Winters comes out of her house, and 2 man next

to me eaid,"There he goea'nbw," and he ducks right down into the

cellar,

CROSS] EXAMINATINN BY MR, LASKER:

Q Are you sure this ie the man? A Vhy certainly.

Q Do you remember how he was dressed a2t the time? 4 Oh, it
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was dﬁrk in fhe hall, and I douldn't see how he wae dressed. Hi%% ;
was standing, leaning in the window, looking towards thies lady's
window  (illustrating).

BY THF COURT:

Q Now, Mrs, Well,s, let us see if you can give ue some idea
of the situation. Do the stairs come down to a landing, and then
turn and go down to the next flight? A At the head of each
flight there is a window,

Q Ard was he on the floor that you reside on, or the flobr
below? A The floor below me, in the window,

Q . At the window, leaning against the window frame? A  No,
sir, leanirg out of the windew (illustrating). |

Q And ie that in the same houee that Mrs, Winters lived in?
A Yes,isir.

Q Tell, how could he see her window from that hall window?
A I'1l1l tell you why. Her bedroom is right where you coﬁld look
riéht out of the hall direct int¢ her ﬁedroomvwindow.

Q And is there an Fl on the héﬁae, that runs out further

than the rest of the houss? A No, it's all the same.

Q And do the stairs go around a well? A VNo, sir, they
gp. right straight up. .

Q Well, this window wae not on the back oé the house”? It
looked out on the eide; -didn't it? A Well, there ies what they

:éll the alleyway between the two houses, 103 and 106; there is

an alleyway between tha* divides the two housec in the back, and
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y&u can stand in the'haiiway iindoi, and look in every bbdiobn5“i}
as yfu go upstairs or downstairs. |
. Q Do the stairs project outside of the house line? A i"
‘don't understand you. ’ //\<
MR.- CARDONF: There are rooms cn both sides ;f the areagy-
way, if your Honor please, | :
Q Is that so? A TYee, sir,
. TEE COURT: You had better tell somebody to yake a little
diagram of i4, Tell the offin;r to do that. Go on.
RY me COURT? ;

Q Now, what was it he told you? A He said to come on down;
nobody to harm me. Then he =aid, "I'm only waiting for that‘man
and my wife," ani I passed on by, and left him standing there.

He said, first, "Are you Mrs, Kitchell? And I éaid, *Ho, :
my name is Velles." |

Q And Mre. Mitchell is her sister? A Yes, sir.

‘BY MR, CARDONE: .

Q And you left him in the window, when you went out?A Yes,

Q And that ie the window midway between the third and fourth'
floor, on the landing? A . Yes,sir,

Q Now, could a person standing right on that landing, near

that window, look into the window of the apartment of Mrs. VWine-
ters? A Could look right intc the bedroom window,
Q . And could a person etanding there fire shots into that

bedroom window® A Yes, certainly, easy,
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Q And how far from where the defendant was atdndiné was
b= - 3 the window, the bedroom window?  A From here to there (111ultra;
ting) from where that chair is to that back door there, the iron
door, It was no more than that. I don't think it ie any more
Jbace than that,
Q About thirty feet? A Yes, I think so, about that.
Q Now, you are sure it was the defendant that you spoke to?
A Why, certainly, it was him. ' |
Q Had you ever seen him befere that? A I certainly see
him, every night, most of the night, standing in the hall. He
knows I spoke tc‘hin more than hne.night in the hall.
CROSS EXAMINATINN BY MR, LASKFR: |
Q * Now, what ie your name? A  Mre, Wells.
Q You are not related to Mre, Winters; are you? - A No,sir,
I am no kin whafeverQ
Q VUWow, canlI ask you thie 4peqtion’ A You can ask me any -
Juestion.

Q What were you doing out a* that hour of the night?

A Wéll, I 3on'+ generally sleep much, bec=2use I ain't very wéll,
and I 4idn't set my breal right, that night, and I wenf'to get
more yeast for my breaﬁ. I ment tc the delicatesesen store,
Q And does Winters knﬁw Mr. Mitchell? A- Yos; he does.
Is she as stout a 1l-dy as you are? A No,sir, she isn't,

Q
Q She is very much tinner; isn't she? ja Yes.
{

And don't you think thst he, knowing Mrs, Mitchell,




wouldn't be apt to ask you whether you were l;'e. Mitoh.n? ”
A %11, you know, Mr. Lawyer, the ball was dask.

Q And he didn't recognize you? A TWell, h's couldn't have,
or he ;ouldn't have asked me that,

| Q But you recognized him? A Yes. And I saw him before
thé lighté were out, that night. »
D.EDI‘?EC"‘ E‘XAMINA*ION BY MR, CARDONE:

a] Whaf lights? A Weli, they put out the lights in our house
on every other floor, and he waé in the dark part of the hallway,
fhat is, there was é light on every other floor burning.

Q Wherewds the light burning in the hallway where thé d9—
fendant was standing? A There wasn't any light in that hallway.

Q Butyou say there is a3 light on every other floor? A  Yes,
they pute it gut on every other floor., |

Q And was the light 1i%, when you wen% down, the last time?
A No, sir, they pﬁt it out on every other floor a2t ten o'clock,
but I saw him before ten d'clock.

Q@ VWhen was iﬁ you saw hir before in the hallway? , I saw
him before %en o;élqck, when 1 went down to the market., I passed
him five times in the hallva&, that one night.

Q Well, did-ycu s=2e him before the shoot igg, immediately
befores the shooting? A I saw hiw about 235 minutes before the
shooting, and I wae talking to the man.

Q And was that +the time he époke to 'cu; and cailed'you

Mrs. Mitchell? A Yes, sir; he asked me, "Are you Mre. Mitchell‘

|




The last time I went down,

~ BY THE COURT:

Q You say, about 35 minutes before this time, you were also

-

talking to him? A  Yes,sir,

Q And what did he say and whaf did &ou 8ay then? A When
I comes out, and slams my door, julge, and started down the
stairs, he says, "Come on down. Nobody to harm_yéu."

And then he said, "Are you'Mre. Mitchell?" And I said, "No,
my name is Wells," |

And then I went on out to the avenue, to get what I wapsed
to, and, before f could get whst I wanted to, I heard the shots

fired.

Q But when befors that did you see him, that night? A I

saw him five times, that niéht. I went down to get things that .
I forgot. I go downstairs very cften,_beéause I forgets some
things, and has to go %o get them; and, the last time, he says,
"Come down. Nobody to harm you." |

Q And, after the shots were fired, ydu say you saw him

ccming out of where? A He started to come ocut of the door.

Q What door”?” A 106, | |

Q You mean the strest door, the Hﬁllwa& door? A Yes,eir.‘
And, by seeing him; people was atahding.there, an& he ducked
back, and started tolcoue down bsfx after the shots wase fired,

and he comes downstairs to go out, and,sesing me and another

man standing by my side, he turns to go back, and I didp't see
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him any more,

Q When you hsird the shots fired, were you s tanding in
front of the building? A VNo,sir, I was coming back to the
building, and I wasn't quite %o the building when I heard the
shots. I rushed on then, because I said to myself, "There, that
may has  sh4 that woman.

THE COURT; Strike that out.
BY THE COURT:
| Q And you heard the shofs when y-u got to the door? 4 Yes,
gir,

Q And, as soon as you heard the shots, you saﬁ.the defendant
you say? A It'ﬁasn't long before he come to the door, to go 6ut.
I saw him come to the door, and put his hands on a knob(1llus-
trating), to open the door, ani a man alongside of me said,

"There is the fellow now," and he iucks back.

Q AWhere did he“go? A I diin't see him any mofe, because

I etayed outside. I didn't rush in to see where he went, b§oause

it waen't ny business,

Q pid you s2e a revolver in hies hand? A No,sir,
RECROSS EXAMINATION BY MR,' LASKER:

Q pidn't you say it was qﬁite dark in the haliway’ A Well,'
it ﬁas 8o dark that I couldn't tell what kind of clothes he had‘
on; and, another thing, I didn't take up that muéh time with
him,

Q But ;t wasn't too dsrk for you to sze his face; was it?
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A I couldn't see what color the man's face wae, but I Bave seen

Ahis“face when the 1ighf is in the hall, and I didn't pay no
attention to hie face then, because I knew he was the man I seen
before. there. |
BY MR, CARDONE:

Q Are you éure that this is the man that epdke to you just
before the shots were fired? A wthat's the man,

Q Well, whdt makes you 8o sure”?” A Because ] have seen
him time and time agaip.

Q And you spoke to this man? A Yea, eir, I seen him time
and time again, and I see him five times, that night, standing

in that hall; : v

A NYA MITCHELL, of 106 West 143rd Strest, a witness
called on behalf of fhe People, being duly sworn, testified
as foilows:

DIRECT EXANINATION BY MR, CARDONE:

Q Are you the sister of Lulu Winters? A Yes,sir,

Q And was she living with you at 106 West 143rd Street in
this county? A Yes,oir. :

Q On the Sth of May 1920? A Yee,sir.

Q For how long & peried of_timelhaj she been li;ing with
you at that address? A Weli, ghe came thar2 with me abodt two

weeke before Christmas,

Q Do you know the defendant”? A Yes, sir.

—
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Q Did you ever aoe the dofondant at your house vhilo ,uut
sister was living'with you? A Yes, eir.

Q VWhen did you see him? A Well, I seen him there aoveral.
timee. He was watching the house for three or four ieeka.

Q How do you know that? A Because I seen him watching the
house, night and morning. I passed him in the hall, and he iao
standing across the street, and in the hallway,

Q Do yoﬁ“know,anything about the trouble between the defen-
dant amd your sister? A They have had no trouble, exéept that
he mistreated her, and -didn't support her, and she &efuead to
live with him.

Q Now, did you see the defendant‘on the morning of the-
shooting? A Yes, That night.

Q Where were you when the shots ﬁere fired? A In.my‘kit-
chen.

Q Were you in the same room with Mrs., winters? A No, we
were all in the dining room, but, just before the shots .were
fired, I went into *he kitchen to heat some water, and she went:

in her bed room to pull down her shade,

Q And was she going to bed? A Yeas, it was late, and we
were getting ready'to goe to bed,

Q Now, did yousee the defendant before the shots were fdred?
A Well, he had been watching the house from seven o'clock that

night ur until the shooting occurred?

Q How do you know that? A Becéuee he was standing part of °

thu i |
' ] - p'



trying to look up iﬁ'our window, and —-
Q Is your apartment a front apartment? A .Yes.‘
Q How many rooms in your apartment? A Fiwe.
-Q And your front window looks out in the street? A Yes,
sir, I have three windows in the front, And he had been watching
that house from seven o'clock that night until the shooting was
done, He was from one hcuse to the other, watching our apart-

ment.

Q Are you telling us what you saw youfbelf? A Yes,sir,

not what soméone told me. Vhat I seenthat man do with my own
eyes, and I know him very well. He was standing across the street
part of the time, looking up into'tha window.

Q Your front window, your stre~t window? A Yes.

. Q Was he alone? A Yess, =sir; and sometimes I saw him
speak +o someone, but most of the times he was aloﬁevf that is,
ﬁe looked 23 if he was speaking to someone now and then, but most
of the time he was a}one. And then he éame‘across the street,
and rang my beli, betweesn eight and nihe.

Q The came evening?‘ A -Yes,sir, the same night, and he
rang my bell.

Q "ho answered the door? A And s¢ I locked out of the
window, whilst my friend's brother went to the door, and there
#as nobody at the door; . and, whilast T was looking'out of the
windbw, he came out of ths hallway, and looked ﬁp at the window,

I saw him come in the hall, and as soon as he went in the hall,



my bell rang; and I etill kept looking out of the windoi,'snd
my friend's brother went apd opened tho door, and there was
nobody at the door. ¥

And so then I was still looking out of the window, and hp
come out of the hallway, and he stood by No.'lOB for aihile,
next to 106, and he was on those three stoops all the time, wp
until the last time I saw hiﬁ, out there in the street,-- I
Aguess it was between nine and ten,

Then I ha? t:‘go to do my marketing, snd so I didn't watch
him aq;\gﬂre and he was across the street again. .

And sc, the last time I went downito the shore, and come
back, which was around 13 or after 13, then he was standiﬁg up
there in tha hall, on that 1little landing between the third
and fourth floor. N

Q " You mean yoﬁ 8aw him there? A Yesg, I saw hir standing
there,

Q I=+here a landing bstween the third and fourth floor?
A Yee, 2and thers is a Wwindow on each little landing,

Q And what were you doing when ycu 3aw him? Were you in
your partment, or did you go upsatairs? A I was coming upstairs
out of the street. I had been te" the store,

Q Does the de "endant }no% you? A Why certainly he knows
me,

Q - Did he speak to you? A VNo,sir. _ :

.Q npidntt say a word to you? A No,sir,
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Q Pid you speak to him? A WNo, I did not.

Q Did you ask him what he was doing there? A No,sir, I '
didn't ask him anything-at all.

Q Was there a light there? A vYves, there is a& light in -
all the halls. There was a dim light in the landing where he was
standing, but you could ses him; .it wag enough light to see him,
and the light stayla in the hallé on every other floor, all night.

Q Now, where is the light located with referance to thét |
landing where he was? A It's in ths center of each hall.

" Q Is th¢re any reflection of the light cast én that landing?
A Yes,: sir, en ough light to see anybody on th%t-landing, and to
se2 who they are, |

Q Ang, gbing upefairs, you could tell who ias on that landing
A Why certiinly. ' |

-Q ;Now, @id you look out of the bedroom window, after the

| shots were fired? A Yes,sir, | ”
Q And whét did fou gsee when ybu looked out of the béadroom

window? A After the shots were fired, I didn't see anything.

Q Where did you look? A I looked up and down the'yard‘
and up on the roof, and around at thé windowe.
Q Did ycur sister tell you how the shooting happened?
A She didn't have to tell me, We were all there, adi heard jit.
‘ Q But you didn't sée Rit? A T didn't see it, Bﬁt Ijsaw
the man standing there in‘ the hall, just before’the.ahooting was
dpne, but I iidﬁ't see him shoot.

Q ALl right.. A  And he hag been Watching the house 8ince
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seven o'clock that night.

MR, CARDONE: You may examine.

BY THE SEGND JUROR:
Q ‘You live on the third floor? A  Yes, sir.
Q And thib"man was ataﬁding on the landing above the third
fiorr? A Yes,slir, about three or four steps fip from the khax
floor of the hallway,
Q Just about'four steps? A Yes, sir., You can logck up therse
and see anybody stand ng there. There is a window on every land-

in:,

BY MR, CARDONE:
Q You mean that there is & window on each landing? A Yes,sir,
Q That covers practically the‘enfi:e landing? ‘A fes,sir.‘ |
Q You didn't go up %o the fourth floor; did you? A VYo,
I‘went into my apartment on the third floor.
Q And you didn't'epeak to him when you eaw him? A .No,air.
Q You knew what he was doiné there? . A I knew that he was

watching for her,

Q Well, why didn't you sgpeak to him? A Well, I have no
right to speak *o him;.because he insulted me every time I spoke
to hi;, |

MR. LASKER: " T move that +hat be stricken.ouf,
MR, CA’DONF:‘ Yes, I c-nsent.
TEF COURT: Strike it out,

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, TLASKER:

Q Your name is Mre. Mitchell? A Yee, sir.



Q Afe you a married woman? A Yes, sir.

Qv Then were you married? A 1808,

Q To whom? A Edward Mitchell.

Q Ie your husband living? A I AOn't know whether’hé‘ia or
not,

Q And.are,you married to ancther man, at this»tiﬁe’ A No,‘
I'm-not, I'm simply living with another man, as my common-law
husband.

Q Who is he? A Thom’a.s Stewart.

0 And is he in thecity? A Yes, I think he's in the city.

Q Where is he? A TWell, T think he is at a doctor's office,

'Q And ne has;ﬁ Erother, némed Clarence? 'A Hé has a brother
ngmed'CIarence. .

Q. And is he in the city? A No, he iantt.v

Q Where is he? A Thy he's in Pesnnsylvania, some place.

Q Now, Clarence and your sister, Mrs.lWintefa, were quite
intimate together; weren't they? A Beg pardon?

Q (Question repeated) A NS, they WETe‘ndt'

Q Waéu't that the cauae ;f the whcletfroublef » No,sir, it
wasn't.

Q Are you sure.of that? A No, it has absolutely nofhing
to  do with it at,ali. I xﬁow fhat,

Q You have no kind feeling toward thies gentleman here,

have you, your brother—in-law? A Well, I havdn't now, no, but .

I 4id have before.
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'Q You did have before? ‘A Yes. | g
JQ But you didn't have any for quite somevtime? A Oh; attiﬁ’
I felt towards him as I did fo anybody that always treated me
r;ght.

Q And you have gaid that you woﬁldn't stop until you put
him behind the walls of Blackwells Islanﬁ, or some other priéont_

A No; eir,I didn't, and I have no cause to say it.

o e e e A s SN N i o i e

Q The window where this shooting is supposed to take place,

.whers your sister, Mrs. Winmsers, was standing, dec you know of

your own knowledge that she stood theré, and if the person who
fired the shot was etaﬁding'at ths place where shs said he wase,
could they see into her window? A Thy certainly they could'see.
Q Was it light br‘dark there? A- Oh, it ias lighf.'
Q And you could see? - A Yesz,
Q - And are you sure it wasn't iar?% A No, it wasnrt dark;
Q Where did the light come from® A The light was frcm my

dining room window, and from my ki*chen window,

Now, ther> was a light in the hallway, wasn't there?

O

+

A Yes K sir.

L

In the hallway where this man was standing, whoever that
man may have been? A Yfé,sir, Charlie Winters.
MR, LAQYEQ: Now, T ask 'that that pe stricken out, as
a conclusion of the W1tnesef
THE COURT: . No

I will allow it to stand., ©She Has said

’

that she saw him etandingathere.
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MR, LASKER: Exception.
THE WITNESS: I eaw him standing there be*ween 13
and one, becauss I loéked 2% the @lock when I ient‘down to
do my marketing, and come back., That was the last time I
eaw him, |
Q And‘the shooting occurred about 1:30, as I‘uﬁderétand?
A \Weil, T ‘suppose around one u'clock.

Q  Oh, you suppose around oneﬁo'clock? A 1+t must have been
around that time. It was a 1little while after I had gone in the
house,

Q It might have been-half past one? A No, I don't tﬁink
it was as late as that. | |

Q Did you have a talk wi;h the sister of the.defendant, Mrs,
Hattie Hamp*on? A Have a talk with who?’

Q@ With Hattie Hamptdn. Do you -know her? A No, I don't.

Q The lady that came from Columbus Ohio, the sister of the‘
jefsndant? A Did T have a talk with her?

Q ias. A ‘No, I 4cn't know her.,

]
BY MR, CARDOYE:
Q But he wants to "know if you spoke %o her? A Oh yes,the
night she come up to our house I spoke to her, |
BY MR, LASKTR:
| Q And iiin‘%vahe sreak about the case %o you? A Not parti-

cularly about the case,

- Q And she came froz Columbus Ohio, in behalf of her brother,
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and simply éaué up fo your house as a'loégal v1nitf A Ifddp'fv':
; know *hj she come up there. She éoﬁa to inquire how dhe could §
get down here, she s;id. I suppose shes came up for informatiqﬁ
how to come down here,

REDIRECT FYAMINATION BY MR. CARDONE:

Q Now] you eay you gaw a light, Now was there a 1ight‘in

the bedroom in which your sister was juet'before the shooting?
A Yes, there waé a lighf inAthe dining roou, and one in the kit-
chen, and one in the bedrooum.

Q That kind of light was there? A Gaa light.

Q ltiathere any electric 1ight in your apartment? A No,
only in the hall; on iy gas in myapartmént.'

Q A4nd where is the electric light that you speak of? ,A' In‘
the hall. |

Q Is there an electric light located in the hall near thia
landing where you say'you s2w the defendant? 'A Yes, light enough
for me to see who wae gtanding there. It was near encugh for t@at.

Q Now, iz that light 1lit .in the hallway, about half past

twelve? A Yes.

Q Aftar the 'shooting, did you gc downetairs? A No, I didn't
Q Dé you know whether that light was illuminated, or out?
at the time of th2 shooting? A4 I don't know. The lights couldn't

-

be much, because they stay lighted all night.

Q Now, I don't want your conclusion. Were they or were they
not lighted? 4 WNo, T don't know whether they were lighted at the
tim..' h '} +he ¢ '\ Py

® he fired the shots, because I wasn't in the hallway. ang S0

L



I don't know,

RECROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, LASKER:

Q You had quite a Qquarrel with your brother-in-law didn't
you? A I have had several with them, becauses he has made a lbt‘
of éonfuaion in my apartment since he has been here.

Q And you went so far as to cut him with a razor on the
hand? A I7?

Q Yes, you., A I don't know anything about that. I'm ab-

solutely sure that I never had a razor in my hand,
Q Didn't you cut his hand right here (indicating)? A No,sir.

Q Do you knew who did it? A No,sir,.

Q Did you ever use a razor in your life? A No,sif, I never
used a razor or a knife in my .life on anybody.

Q NeQer had a razor in your hand? A No,sir, I never used
a razor in my life on anybody. Cut hiz? I never cut him. Of
course not. I'vé had worde with hilf,

Q You hever stated to your brcthnr—inélaw that you desired
his company, in preference to that of his wife? A VWNo, sir,

.Q And, if he didn't take'y~ur company,. instead of his
.rife,' that you would disfigure him s0 that his wife woﬁld never
recognize him? A No,sir, I never 3id, - )

Q Are you sure »f that? A Yes, sir. I know nothing about
that sort of thing at all. |

\d

JAM £ S CUNNTINGH AM, of the 32%nh Precinct, a wit-

J
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pw" i nees called on behalf of the People, beipg duly sworn

testified as £ lows?

DIRECT EXAMINATIQN Bf MR, RDONE :
Q ‘Did you arres*the defendant? A I dide
Q Then? A At 3 P.¥,, May 9th.
Q Where? A At 143nd Street and Edgecomb Avenue.
BY THE COURT:
Q Was that 3 A M, or P.¥,? A 28 P,M,
BY ¥R, CA?DANE:

Q VWhen you arrested the defendant did you have any conver-—

eation with him” A When T arrested the defendant I said, th;t
did you do?" ,nd he said, "T didn't do notbing,"
So T waited untillthe.men that was chasing him come up to me.
Q WYhat men were those? A He.*as running up Edgécomb Avenu§
and at 143nd Street 1 was standing, and.I ran over to him and
etqpped him.

And T eaid, "What did youdo?" And he 2aid, "I didn't do

nothfﬁj;f |
A 8o T waited until the crowd thﬁt was chasing him come up—-fl
they were abcut 50 feet from me then — and a fellow nahed Sf;;ar{,
Thomis Stewart, a colored fellow came up, and he says, "@freet
that ﬁsn. He shot his wife,"'or, "Fired a couple of shots at his
wife."

| Q Never.mind that, what S%awﬁrt said, Did the defendant

eay anything? A Yes, he eaid he didn't do nothing.

;
\b/,—\\\\ | : :



Q Now what else happened? You took‘him into cﬁotody; j
ie that 1t? A Yes,sir, and I searched him then, a little‘friak7fg
an the outside of his garments to see if he had any weap&n, and T
tcck him down to the house, | i - 3 i

Q Did you find any weapon? ‘A No,sir.

-
P -+
T Wt

Q Did you have any talk with the defendant about his whereé
abouts on the morning of the Sth of May, 1920 about 1:su A.M.?
A No,sir, T dian't. H¢ denied knowing éﬁything 33 he denied
having anything to do with them. I asked him why Le ran away,
and he said this Stewart sagd he was going to shoot him, andhe
ran away because‘he was afraid of Stewart,

Q Did he say where he was aboﬁt 1:30 on themorning of Vay
©th?- A WNo,sir, I didn't ask him that.

_ % :

Q Did you ever go/éiese premises at 108 West 143rd Street?
A VNo,sir, I did not.
CROSS FXAMINATION BY MR, LASKER:

Q. Officer, dec you know this Sfewirt, who is fhe dommoh-lawy

husband of Mre. Anna Mitchel; is he not? She is living with

this Stewart; isn't she? A I 'believe this Thom:s Stewart said
his rrother wae there at the time. I ain't rositive,

Q Well, did you see a revolver in Thomas Stewart,s hand? ”

Q Did he have a revolver? A No,
Q You know that for a fact? A Well,  as far as T observed.

Q And thie man said Thomse was abcut to shoot him, and



that's the reason he wanted to get ;wiy? A Yéa,‘hQVSuid he

~was ecared he would shoot him,

HARRY D, BLOOM FIELD, of the 38th Precinct, &
witness called on behalf of the People, being duly sworn,
testified as fol awa:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY VR, CARDONE:

Q ‘On the Sth of May, 19220, wer~ you aseigned to the ocase of-ﬁ

1

tp & shooting case that occurred at 106 Weet 143rd Stregt? A Yes.

. Q@ And when was that assignmént commenced? A Well, we got

the message about 1:10 A.M,
Q And what did ybu dc then? Waé it a telerhone message?

A The des lieutenant nctified the détéctive office that there
wae a shooting at 10€ Vest 143rd Streﬁt; and I, in company with
Detective Scott, visited the place of cccurrence, and walked up
te the third flonr of that house, and thére had an interview with
the complainant, Lulu Winters, who stated --

Q Never rmind what she s+tated, You had a conversation with

her? A Yes,sir,

Q And

g

fter thie ccnversaticn what did you do?’' A I invesw
tigateé the apartments, inspected the premises,

Q You aid? A Yes, sir,

Q . Arnd what 4id you find? A I foun? two hoies in the glass
in the bedroom window of the complainant,

Q What kind of holee” A Well, it appeared to be like bullet
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‘hoiee, round, small holeé.
Q Was there a liéht in that bedroom? A '!‘1'-1erf= w28,
Q Did you look around for the tullets? A T did.
Q ﬁid you find them” A . I did not; no,sir.
Q You and Qcotf Wereltogether, you and Detective Scott?
A Yes, and Detective McCormick.
Q "hen you came upstairs, did yéuobserve the lighting
facilitiee'in *he hallway? A . There was a 11ght.in ﬁhe'ﬁallway,
Q Where? A4 I don't recall where it was located.
Q 1Is there a2 landing between the third and fourth floo}?
A There is. |
Q And is theréva landing between the second and third fldor?l
‘A T don't think ther-is. I'm not smre,

ird and fourth floeor?

e g

Q‘ But there is a landing between the t
A4 Yes. y

Q And did you pay particular attention fo,tha~? A Yes.

Q And is the landing located near a window? A Yes,

Q Now, are you able to draw for us a diagram of the window
nesr this 1énding, and aiso of the location of thebedroom of the
complainant® a  There is a window there on the landing betweea
the third and fourth floor, cverlooking a cour “yard, and the
complainant'e bédrccm'is on the 1¢ff side of that window.

Q And did you s+tand -~.ccu1d a ‘pereon sf;nd on that landing,
close to the window that is located between the third and fourth

floora? & You could. v



I And how many étepa are there on that landing? Aalhy i"
should juﬁge sbout five; five or aix,
. Q And could‘a person standingvat that window see the window
of the complainant, the bedroom Nindé“’ A ~hey could,

Q Where these bullet hdes were locéted? A Yeé, sir,

'Q What is *the distance between those two windows? A I
shpuld judge about 15 feet, acros: *hevyard.

‘BY THE COURT:

Q Are thcse windows opposite each other, or at right angles?
A They are =2t right angles. .
BY ¥R, CARDONE:

Q Well, will you draw a diagram, if you cam, as té‘how those -
windows are located? '

THE COURT: Juéf draw a gréund plan of the building,

soth=t we can see how it is possible %to see from one window

into the other, in the same house,

THE TITNESS: I don't know whether I can do it or not,

but I will try to. That is the best T can do (indicating).

BY MR, CARDONE:
Q Now, officer, will you make. a large diagram, showing the
outline of the walle of the courtyard, of the walls there on

both sidee. where these windews are lgocated, will you make the
> » y

o .

“external cutline? A T am poor in drawing.  That's all T can do,
the best I can do ‘indicsting).

MR, CARDONE: May the officer stand up in the presence



of the jury and explain the diagram, if your Hsnor pleass?
THE COURT: Yes. |

BY MR, CARDONE: %

Q VNow officer ybu have drawn on this diagram two quadrila- | v
terals, running paraliel to each other; is that right? A Yee,eir;

Q What do they fepresent? A The first one hear, on thev
right, fhis represente the hallway wihdow, where the defendant
is eppposed to be stapding, and firing at this bedrocm window
there, ‘across the courtyard, about 15 feet apart (indicating).

Q 4And does this reprecsent the sgpace batween the +two walls
(indicating)® A Yes, sir.

Q The areaway? A Yes,

. Q@ And this is the window on %hﬂ landing (indicating)? A Yes,

Q And thie is the complainant's bedroom (indicating)?
A Yés,sir. J

Q Her bedroom window? A Yes,sir.

Q And what does this space repfesept (indicatiﬁg)? » Be-

tween the window and the brick wall.

Q@ And how much space is that; “do you knéw? A No, this
represents the wall of the building, and this is the window in
the wall.. The outline is the wall.

Q You say tha+ these windows face each other, in a straight
line, or obliquely? A Obliguely. The complainant witnese's
is ‘downward, and the other window is like tha*t, be‘ween th? third

and fourth floor (indicating).



Q.'This window ie the window between the third and foﬁxt&
 floor, on the landing? A Yee. :
‘ Q‘ And it is the window that ie on the third flpor? A Yes,
Q Thies is the hallway (indicating)? A Yee, » |
Q Now, what ie the difference between the window of the
landing and the window @£ the complainant's bedroom”? What is
the difference in feet? A’ I should think about 123 feet.
Q 123 feest 4d-wn, or is it less than that? A If might be less,
Q PNow, there is juet cne other quéstion I %ant to ask you,.
Are these windows opposite each other? Do they face each other,
or is one window further away thanthe other, obliquely? A The
complainant's window is dowh from the one th%f ig in the hall,
Q@ i know, ~You -have tcld us tha+t the window on thelanding,“
ié a little higher thﬁn‘the window of the bedroom. Now I. want
to get the position of these wiﬁdows. Do they face each pther?

A .

<
o

g,eir,

m

Q In & straight line? A No,

Q Can you give us any description as to their lecation?

How far away in an oblique line is one window from the other?
A It's on the side (illustra‘ing).

or how much? A It'e lfke this

Q Is it much,on the side,

door there (indica*ing the side door of the courtreom). The
hallway window faces straight to the yard, and the complaining.
witn ess1s bedroom window is on +the side,

Q Could a person standing on *helanding between the third

.
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and fqurtﬁ fioore, fire and strike the windoi that'you havévagg-:?éf
cr;bnd,’the'bedfodm window of thé‘comp}ainbnt? A 'Yb 8,

Q@ You are sure about that? A Yes,

' CROSS EXANMINATION BY MR, LASKER:

Q If a psrsomn ie standing where this perscn is supposed
tp have stood who fired the shots, and fired from the window,
would the bﬁllet go underneath the bed?

MR, CARDONE: 1 object to that, as épgculative, as A

trying fo prove whére the bullet would go.

THE COURT: I sustain the objecticn. You may ask him

if it was possaible for it to go under the bed, It'might‘

have been.deflected.

By THE coumt:

Q How f=r back from thé window ie the bed in that bedroom?
A About two ;nd a half feet, or three fe~t,

Q ©o tha*, if the shotm was fired from above, at a downward
angle, was there anything %o pravent it from going under thé bed?

A Y=g, If-'it went through the glaee, it could e possible that

it_wnuld'go under the bed,
BY MR, LASKER: o

n Wasg ther- gas or electric light in thzt apartment?‘.A I
ion't recall. 4 ‘ |

Q Was there gae or electric light in the haliway? A I
don't know what iight it was. There wae light theres, on the main

floor, not on the landing. | ' , : - V ; J
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~Q And what time did you get there? A' I got-thefe a:oundi
a quarter past one, about five minutes after I got the alarm, '.;;
Q Were you thereuwhen the complaining witneés made her |
‘ : i

affidavit, saying that this happened in the hallway, about 1:30 Ak
ANGT A KA aBeie LY10 AM. T got the ingesmatEen. 3 3

Q And you don't know anything further than that? A No,sir, I 4
BY THE FIFTE JUROR: |

Q Was there a light in the hallway at the'entrénce to the
hall of the Euilding when you got there? A VNo. A

Q There @aé not? A No,sir, thg light was out,

REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, CARDONE:

Q Was there a light at the entrance to the building, right
as you,get t; +he door from the streetf A Not in front. It is
a long hallway and there was a light opposite. the stairs, .on the
ground floor,

Q As you went upstairs, whers was fhe other light, where was
the nex* light, if any? A I don't remember that,

Q Well, didn't you observe the condition of the lighting

1n‘thn hallway ther=? A The lighting was fairly geod, th&tlis,
the flobrs.wherc the light waé. |
Q WNow, did- you see any other light? A There was one on
the third floor.
| Q Are you sure that there was a light on the third floor?.
A Yes, |

Q And what kind of light was i¢? 4 I don't remember.
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Q Was it gas or electricity? A I don't remember. I don't

know, ‘
Q And wae it a dim light or sufficiently strong for you
aufficiet to see. I looked

door, and I saw the name,

mw

to see your way upstaire? A Ye
for the complainant's name on the

RECROSS EXAMINATINN RY MR, LASKER:
A I don't know,

Q  Was. there a light on the fourth floor?
the fifth fleor? A I wasn't up

Q Was there a light

on the fifth floor.

BY MR, CARDONE:
Q What kind of windowe are there in the apartment where

A

Plain glase windows.
A I don't re-=

the bedroom ie located?
the landing?

Q And what about ‘the window on

member what that was.
MR, CARDONE: That is the People's case, if your Hono r
rlease, |

BY THE FIFTH JUROR:
Q Vae the ligh+t sufficiently strong so th=2t you could dis-
of a person entering the building, or going

tinguish.the featur =s
out of the building, in the hallway? . A In the rear there was
light. ity . i

Q I mean the front? A . It was dark in front,.

RV THE QECﬁNﬁ JUD(\.~:
Q Was it ec dark thqf, if a pers-n was in the fiont, e
A Yes, you

culd .recognize him just ae you could in the resr?
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could recognize a person in therear of the hall.

Q No, in the front? A VNot unlese you knew the person.

/

If it was a stranger, you couldn't recognize hinm, SR

BY THE COURT:

Q The question is, if a person came out of the stre=t door,
or s*ood on the front steps, could you recognize -him? A Yes, oh
yee you could, certainly. | .

®w

(The Court then took a recéss until two o'clock,

having admonished the jury in accordance with

Section 415 of the Code of Criminal Procedure.)
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AFTER RECESS.
MR, LASKER: I move to dismiss, if your Bomer please,on f-; -
the grouﬁd, first, as to the conflict of testimony of the |
People's witnesses, | . |

THE COURT: Moticn denied,

MR, TASVER; Exception{ And, seéond, as to the con}
flictihg testimony as fo the identity of the person who
fired the shots.

TEE COURT: Motion denied.

MR, LASKER: Exception. And also on'the groﬁnd that‘
there wée no revelver found on the percson of the defendant
at thevtime of the arrest, |

TET COURT: Motion denied.

Mp.'LASKER: Exception. The testimony of Mrs. Wells
that she saw the face of the defendant, althcugh she thought
it may be thaf'cf‘the defendant, she donh't know how tha de=
fendant was dressed, and 2lso that the dafendant mistook

ner for tha defendant's own sister-in-lsw, though they were

well dcquainted with each other.
THE CQURT: Mction denied.

MR, LASYFTR: TException,
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T"HEE ‘- DEFENSE.

CHARLES RI CHARDS, of 106 West 143rd Street,

’

a witness called on bebalf of the defense, being duly sworn,

;

:

3

i

g
]
|
i
{

featified as follows: ‘ e
DIRECT TXAMINATIN BY VR. LASKER:

Q Mr. éichards; you live at 108 West 143rd Street? A Yes,sir,

.Q 18 that right? A Yée, sir,

Q And is thst the same house where Mrs, Winters lived in?

A Yee, 8sir,

And how long have you lived at that place? A I%'ve been

Q
living there since laet fall,

Q About a year? A VYes,sir, |
Q And are you acquainted in that house? A Yes, eir,
Q And on what floor do you live® A Top floor, front.

Q Do you know the defendant, Charlee Winters? A Yes, I
know him
s Q@ And how long have you known him? A I knew him -«- well,

for about six months. Him and I used to work together alongshore,

Q And do you remember May Sth —— that's the day when the
trouble occurred -- do you remember thét date, that night, Sa-
*uriay.night? A Saturday night?

Q It was Saturday nigh%t; wasn't it? A Yéé.

Q Now, where 4id you go Saturday night®> A 70 VWeest 1423nd

Strees,

Q Tere you in the company of Charles Winters, thet evening?
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E; ; A 'Yea, I was there, playing whist and some more friondo of ninn,
| | Q Now listen Richard. I know you can talk out 1ouder thln';j‘,{-
that, because you are a longehnrnman and have to talk out loud. .
A Yes, I was there,
Q Were you with Cherles that evening, before you went to thati
house? 70 Weet 142nd Stre-t? A No. |
-4 What time did you get into that house in 143nd Street?
A About elevé<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>